IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2007-DP-01312-SCT

KRISTI FULGHAM,

Appellant,

versus

THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

Appellee.

ORIGINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

APPEALED FROM OKTIBBEHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

James Lappan Miss. Bar North Control of Capital Defense Counsel 510 George Street, Suite 300 Jackson MS 39202 (601) 576-2316

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Kristi Fulgham v. State of Mississippi (No. 2007-DP-01312-SCT)

Pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 28(a)(1), the undersigned counsel of

record certifies that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These

3

ι.

ί

United States v. Suarez, 225 F.3d 777 (7th Cir. 2000)	
<u>United States v. Sumlin</u> , 489 F.3d 683 (5th Cir. 2007)	
<u>United States v. Sumner</u> , 119 F.3d 658 (8th Cir. 1997)	
<u>United States v. Sutton</u> , 426 F.2d 1202 (D.C. Cir. 1969)	
United States v. Swan, 327 F. Supp. 2d 1068 (D.Neb. 2004)	
<u>United States v. Sweets</u> , 526 F.3d 122 (4th Cir. 2007)	
<u>United States v. Tanner, 471 F.2d 128 (7th Cir. 1972)</u>	
<u>United States v. Taylor</u> , 106 F.3d 801 (8th Cir. 1997)	
<u>United States v. Taylor, 487 U.S. 326 (1988)</u>	
<u>United States v. Thayer, 201 F.3d 214 (3rd Cir. 1999)</u>	
United States v. Thomas, 321 F.3d 627 (7th Cir. 2003)	
United States v. Tipton, 90 F.3d 861 (4th Cir. 1996)	
United States v. Toney, 599 F.2d 787 (6th Cir. 1979)	
United States v. Tsanas, 572 F.2d 340 (2nd Cir. 1978)	
United States v. United States Gypsum Co., 333 U.S. 364 (1948)	
United States v. Utter, 97 F.3d 509 (11th Cir. 1996)	
United States v. Vallejos, 421 F.3d 1119 (10th Cir. 2005)	
United States v. Vaulin, 132 F.3d 898 (3rd Cir. 1997)	
United States v. Vereen, 429 F.2d 713 (D.C. Cir. 1970)	
United States v. Villegas, 494 F.3d 513 (5th Cir. 2007)	
United States v. Wadena, 152 F.3d 831 (8th Cir. 1998)	
United States v. Washington, 819 F.2d 221 (9th Cir. 1987)	
United States v. West, 58 F.3d 133 (5th Cir. 1995)	
United States v. Williams, 51 F.3d 1004 (11th Cir. 1995)	
United States v. Wolfe, 611 F.2d 1152 (5th Cir. 1980)	105 105 105
Office States V. Wone, 011 F.2d 1152 (5th Ch. 1980)	
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007)	138
<u>United States v. Wright</u> , 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) <u>United States v. Wright</u> , 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987)	
<u>United States v. Wright</u> , 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) <u>United States v. Wright</u> , 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) <u>United States v. Xiong</u> , 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001)	
<u>United States v. Wright</u> , 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) <u>United States v. Wright</u> , 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) <u>United States v. Xiong</u> , 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) <u>V.D. v. State</u> , 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001)	
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009)	
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006)	
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978)	
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000)	
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000) Walder v. United States, 347 U.S. 62 (1954)	
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000) Walder v. United States, 347 U.S. 62 (1954) Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959 (6th Cir. 1983)	
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000) Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959 (6th Cir. 1983) Walker v. State, 740 So. 2d 873 (Miss. 1999)	
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000) Walder v. United States, 347 U.S. 62 (1954) Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959 (6th Cir. 1983) Walker v. State, 740 So. 2d 873 (Miss. 1999)	
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000) Walder v. United States, 347 U.S. 62 (1954) Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959 (6th Cir. 1983)	
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000) Walder v. United States, 347 U.S. 62 (1954) Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959 (6th Cir. 1983)	$\begin{array}{c} 138\\ 187\\ 143\\ 52\\ 21\\ 39\\ 120\\ 98\\ 81\\ 52, 176\\ 146\\ 172\\ 75, 121, 147\\ 53\\ \end{array}$
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000) Walder v. United States, 347 U.S. 62 (1954) Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959 (6th Cir. 1983) Walker v. State, 740 So. 2d 873 (Miss. 1999) Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639 (1990) Wardius v. Oregon, 412 U.S. 470 (1973) Washington v. Hofbauer, 228 F.3d 689 (6th Cir. 2000)	$\begin{array}{c} 138\\ 187\\ 143\\ 52\\ 21\\ 39\\ 21\\ 39\\ 20\\ 88\\ 81\\ 52, 176\\ 146\\ 172\\ 146\\ 75, 121, 147\\ 53\\ 65\\ \end{array}$
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000) Walder v. United States, 347 U.S. 62 (1954) Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959 (6th Cir. 1983) Walker v. State, 297 S.E.2d 278 (Ga. 1982)	$\begin{array}{c} 138\\ 187\\ 187\\ 143\\ 52\\ 21\\ 39\\ 120\\ 98\\ 81\\ 52, 176\\ 146\\ 172\\ 75, 121, 147\\ 53\\ 65\\ 28, 29\\ \end{array}$
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000) Walder v. United States, 347 U.S. 62 (1954) Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959 (6th Cir. 1983)	$\begin{array}{c} 138\\ 187\\ 143\\ 52\\ 21\\ 39\\ 120\\ 98\\ 81\\ 52, 176\\ 146\\ 172\\ 75, 121, 147\\ 53\\ 65\\ 28, 29\\ 19\end{array}$
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000) Walder v. United States, 347 U.S. 62 (1954) Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959 (6th Cir. 1983) Walker v. State, 740 So. 2d 873 (Miss. 1999) Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639 (1990) Wardius v. Oregon, 412 U.S. 470 (1973) Washington v. Hofbauer, 228 F.3d 689 (6th Cir. 2000) Washington v. Watkins, 655 F.2d 1346 (5th Cir. 1981)	$\begin{array}{c} 138\\ 187\\ 143\\ 52\\ 21\\ 39\\ 120\\ 98\\ 81\\ 52, 176\\ 146\\ 172\\ 75, 121, 147\\ 53\\ 65\\ 28, 29\\ 19\\ 194\\ \end{array}$
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000)	$\begin{array}{c} 138\\ 187\\ 143\\ 52\\ 21\\ 39\\ 120\\ 98\\ 81\\ 52, 176\\ 146\\ 172\\ 75, 121, 147\\ 53\\ 65\\ 28, 29\\ 19\\ 194\\ 145\\ \end{array}$
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000) Walder v. United States, 347 U.S. 62 (1954) Walker v. Engle, 703 F.2d 959 (6th Cir. 1983) Walker v. State, 740 So. 2d 873 (Miss. 1999) Walraven v. State, 297 S.E.2d 278 (Ga. 1982) Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639 (1990) Washington v. Hofbauer, 228 F.3d 689 (6th Cir. 2000) Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14 (1967) Washington v. Watkins, 655 F.2d 1346 (5th Cir. 1981) Watson v. Anglin, 560 F.3d 687 (7th Cir. 2009) Weems v. United States, 217 U.S. 349 (1910) Weeisgram v. Marley Co., 528 U.S. 440 (2000)	$\begin{array}{c} 138\\ 187\\ 143\\ 52\\ 21\\ 39\\ 120\\ 98\\ 81\\ 52, 176\\ 146\\ 172\\ 75, 121, 147\\ 53\\ 65\\ 28, 29\\ 19\\ 194\\ 145\\ 169\\ \end{array}$
United States v. Wright, 496 F.3d 371 (5th Cir. 2007) United States v. Wright, 835 F.2d 1245 (8th Cir. 1987) United States v. Xiong, 262 F.3d 762 (7th Cir. 2001) V.D. v. State, 790 So. 2d 830 (Miss. 2001) Van Hook v. Anderson, 560 F.3d 523 (6th Cir. 2009) Vaughn v. State, 636 S.E.2d 163 (Ga. App. 2006) Vicksburg Chemical Co. v. Thornell, 355 So. 2d 299 (Miss. 1978) Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562 (2000)	$\begin{array}{c} 138\\ 187\\ 143\\ 52\\ 21\\ 39\\ 21\\ 39\\ 20\\ 21\\ 39\\ 20\\ 21\\ 39\\ 20\\ 21\\ 39\\ 20\\ 21\\ 39\\ 20\\ 21\\ 39\\ 20\\ 21\\ 20\\ 21\\ 20\\ 21\\ 20\\ 21\\ 20\\ 21\\ 20\\ 21\\ 20\\ 21\\ 20\\ 21\\ 20\\ 20\\ 20\\ 20\\ 20\\ 20\\ 20\\ 20\\ 20\\ 20$

ŧ

ι

i ...

White v. Illinois, 502 U.S. 346 (1992) 124, 128
<u>White v. State</u> , 532 So. 2d 1207 (Miss. 1988)
<u>White v. State</u> , 552 S0. 20 1207 (Miss. 1988)
<u>Winden v. State</u> , 535 N.E.2d 80 (fild. 1975)
<u>Wiggins v. Sintui</u> , 559 U.S. 510 (2005)
<u>Wilcher v. State</u> , 697 So. 2d 1087 (Miss. 1997)
<u>Wilcher v. State</u> , 863 So. 2d 719 (Miss. 2003)
<u>Wiley v. State</u> , 750 So. 2d 1193 (Miss. 1999)
<u>Wilkerson v. State</u> , 78 Miss. 356 (1901)
<u>Williams v. Allen</u> , 542 F.3d 1326 (11th Cir. 2008)
<u>Williams v. Drake</u> , 146 F.3d 44 (1st Cir. 1998)
<u>Williams v. Newberry</u> , 32 Miss. 256 (1856)
<u>Williams v. State</u> , 445 So. 2d 798 (Miss. 1984)
Williams v. State, 554 P.2d 842 (Okla. Crim. App. 1976)
<u>Williams v. State</u> , 619 N.E.2d 569 (Ind. 1993)
<u>Williams v. State</u> , 684 So. 2d 1179 (Miss. 1996)
<u>Williams v. State</u> , 684 So. 2d 1189 (Miss. 1996)
<u>Williams v. State</u> , 970 So. 2d 727 (Miss. App. 2007)
<u>Williams v. Taylor</u> , 529 U.S. 362 (2000)
<u>Williamson v. State</u> , 512 So. 2d 868 (Miss. 1987)
<u>Williamson v. Voedisch Jewelry Co.</u> , 152 N.W. 508 (S.D. 1915)
<u>Willie v. State</u> , 585 So. 2d 660 (Miss. 1991)
<u>Wilson v. Sirmons</u> , 536 F.3d 1064 (10th Cir. 2008)
Wilson v. State, 451 So. 2d 724 (Miss. 1984)
Wingo v. Blackburn, 786 F.2d 645 (5th Cir. 1986)71
Witt v. Commonwealth, 212 S.E.2d 293 (Va. 1975)
Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963)
Woodard v. State, 978 So. 2d 217 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2008)
Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280 (1976) 18, 20, 25, 109, 127, 145
Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 290 (1976) 176
Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 380 (1976)
Woody v. United States, 379 F.2d 130 (D.C. Cir. 1967)
<u>Wyrick v. Fields</u> , 459 U.S. 42 (1982)
Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862 (1983)
Statutes & Administrative Codes
28 U.S.C. § 2254
20 U.B.C. 9 22J4

28 U.S.C. § 2254	
Miss. Code Ann. § 13-5-73	
Miss. Code Ann. § 97-2-73	
Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(1)(a) (1)(b)	
Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(2)(d)	
Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(2)(e)	
Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-73	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-11-101(2)(d)	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-17-20	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-18-7	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101(2)	

7

κ.,

۰.

ι.

Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101(2)(d)	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101(5)	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101(5)(d)	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101(5)(e)	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101(5)(f)	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-101(7)	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-103	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-103 126, 127, 129, 130, 131	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-105	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-105(1)	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-105(3)(A)	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-105(3)(c)	
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-105(5)(d)	
Miss. Code Ann. § of (1942)	

Other

1

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