IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

KRISTI FULGHAM,

APPELLANT

versus

No. 2007-DP-01312-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM HOOD

ATTORNEY GENERAL STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MARVIN L. WHITE, JR.

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Miss. Bar No.

JASON L. DAVIS

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Counsel of Record
Miss. Bar. No

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL Post Office Box 220 Jackson, Mississippi 39205 Telephone: (601) 359-3680

Facsimile: (601) 359-3796

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

This analysis persuades us that when a juror brings a Bible into the deliberations and points out to her fellow jurors specific passages that describe the very facts at issue in the case, the juror has crossed an important line. The Supreme Court counsels us that a jury may not consult material that is outside the law and evidence in the case. The Bible passages in question here were not part of the law and evidence that the jury was to consider in its deliberations. Moreover, the jurors did not simply discuss their own understanding of religious law and morality or quote Bible passages from memory to aid the discussion. Instead, the jurors referenced a specific passage that stated that someone who engages in a particular act-striking a person with an object and killing him, as Oliver did to Collins-is a murderer and must be put to death. Most circuits have ruled that when a Bible itself enters the jury room, the jury has been exposed to an external influence. Here, we face facts that are even more egregious than in those previous cases, as the

jurors consulted a specific passage that provided guidance on the appropriate punishment for this particular method of murder. As such, we hold that the jury's consultation of the Bible passages in question during the sentencing phase of the trial amounted to an external influence on the jury's deliberations.

The question before us is not whether a juror must leave his or her moral values at the door or even whether a juror may consult the Bible for his or her own personal inspiration during the deliberation process. This case is also not about whether jurors must forget that, generally, the Bible includes the concept of an "eye for an eye." See Burch, 273 F.3d at 591 (noting that the "Bible quotes, whether stated from memory or read from the book, were ... statements of folk wisdom or of cultural precepts"). Therefore, we need not address these issues. Instead, here, several jurors collectively consulted a Bible, in the jury room, and likely compared the facts of this case to the passage that teaches that capital punishment is appropriate for a person who strikes another over the head with an object and causes the person's death.

The state urges us to consider solely whether the Bible passage at issue had any bearing on the factual questions the jury had to decide during the sentencing phase: whether Oliver presented a threat of future dangerousness and whether there was mitigating evidence to warrant a sentence of life imprisonment instead of death. This argument misses the mark. The Bible served as an external influence precisely because it may have influenced the jurors simply to answer the questions in a manner that would ensure a sentence of death instead of conducting a thorough inquiry into these factual areas. Further, the Bible passage in this instance was evidence of the "circumstances of the offense that militates for ... the imposition of the death penalty." Tex.Code Crim. Proc. Ann. art. 37.071(d)(1) (discussing the instructions the court must give to the jury in a death penalty case).

A contrary holding would eviscerate the rule from *Remmer* that jurors must rely on only the evidence and law presented in an open court room. It may be true that the Bible informs jurors' general outlook of the world and their moral values in particular, and jurors may constitutionally rely upon those morals in their deliberations. *See J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel.* T.B., 511 U.S. 127, 149, 114 S.Ct. 1419, 128 L.Ed.2d 89 (1994) (O'Connor, J., concurring) ("Jurors are not expected to come into the jury box and leave behind all that their human experience has taught them." (internal citation and quotation marks omitted)). But the particular passage at issue here does not generally inform a juror's moral understanding of the world. The jurors did not testify that they knew,

as people of faith, that someone who hits another over the head with an "instrument of iron" or a "hand weapon of wood" so that the person dies is a murderer and should be put to death. Instead, several jurors testified that they read this passage in the Bible while they were in the jury room debating Oliver's fate. Thus, the jury's use of the Bible here amounts to a type of "private communication, contact, or tampering" that is outside the evidence and law, which is exactly what *Remmer* sought to circumscribe. 347 U.S. at 229, 74 S.Ct. 450.

C. Harmless Error Analysis

Our inquiry, however, is not complete. We must next determine the effect the Bible had on the jury's decision to impose the death penalty. That is, given that there was a constitutional error because the jury consulted an external influence, we must determine if that constitutional error was harmless. See *Garcia v. Quarterman*, 454 F.3d 441, 444 (5th Cir.2006) ("If the issue is a mixed question of law and fact, such as the assessment of harmless error, we review the district court's determination de novo.").

Normally, under Remmer, if prejudice is likely from the jury's consultation of an external influence, the court may place the burden of rebutting that presumption on the state. See Remmer, 347 U.S. at 229, 74 S.Ct. 450; United States v. Sylvester, 143 F.3d 923, 934 (5th Cir. 1998) (stating that "only when the court determines that prejudice is likely should the government be required to prove its absence"); see also United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 739, 113 S.Ct. 1770, 123 L.Ed.2d 508 (1993) (stating that the ultimate inquiry is whether "the intrusion affect[ed] the jury's deliberations and thereby its verdict"). However, on habeas review, we do not use the normal harmless error analysis. See Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619, 637, 113 S.Ct. 1710, 123 L.Ed.2d 353 (1993); Pyles v. Johnson, 136 F.3d 986, 994 (5th Cir.1998). Instead, habeas petitioners are not entitled to relief based on a constitutional error unless the error "had [a] substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict." Id. (citing Kotteakos v. United States, 328 U.S. 750, 776, 66 S.Ct. 1239, 90 L.Ed. 1557 (1946)); see also Fry v. Pliler, ---U.S. ---, 127 S.Ct. 2321, 2328, 168 L.Ed.2d 16 (2007) (holding that a federal court must assess the prejudicial impact of a constitutional error in a state court criminal trial under the "substantial and injurious effect" standard set forth in Brecht).

Other courts to consider the effect of a Bible in the jury room have not faced

similar facts, where the passage the jury read described the defendant's method of killing. For example, in *McNair v. Campbell*, the Eleventh Circuit noted that the two passages that the foreman had read to the jury did not contain "material which would encourage jurors to find a defendant guilty or to recommend the death penalty." 416 F.3d at 1308 (internal quotation marks omitted). Therefore, the Bible passages "merely had the effect of encouraging the jurors to take their obligations seriously and to decide the question of guilt or innocence based only on the evidence." *Id.* at 1309 (internal quotation marks omitted). In addition to the innocuous nature of the Bible passages at issue, the court noted that a juror brought in the extraneous evidence without the imprimatur of the court and that the state's case against the defendant was particularly strong. *Id.* These factors supported the court's view that the Bible passages did not prejudice the jury's decision. *Id.*

Similarly, the Ninth Circuit, sitting en banc, rejected the petitioner's argument of prejudice when a juror made notes "for" and "against" the death penalty based on his review of the Bible at home and then brought those notes into the jury room. Fields v. Brown, 503 F.3d 755, 776-82 (9th Cir.2007) (en banc). The court chose not to decide whether the juror's conduct was improper because, either way, the notes did not have a "substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict." Id. at 781. The court rested its decision of no prejudice on the fact that the juror's notes had both a "for" and "against" part, the notes entered the jury room early in the deliberations and thus jurors could still take as much time as they needed to sort through the evidence and reflect on the appropriate punishment, the jury was instructed to base its decision solely on the facts and the law as presented during the trial, and the aggravating evidence was powerful given that the case involved multiple murders, rape, and kidnapping. Id. at 781-82.

While the facts before us regarding the jury's use of the Bible are perhaps more egregious than in these previous cases, the procedural posture here constrains our analysis. This is because here, the state court made a factual finding regarding the effect of the Bible on the jury, and we must defer to that factual finding unless Oliver presents "clear and convincing" evidence to the contrary. See 28 U.S.C. § 2254(e)(1). After hearing the testimony of four jurors at an evidentiary hearing on Oliver's motion for a new trial, the state court ruled that the jurors rendered their decision "in accord with the evidence they heard in this case uninfluenced by any outside influence of any kind shown to the Court in this hearing." In essence, the state court made a finding that the Bible did not prejudice the jury's decision. The effect of an ex parte communication on

a juror's impartiality is a question of "historical fact." Rushen v. Spain, 464 U.S. 114, 120, 104 S.Ct. 453, 78 L.Ed.2d 267 (1983) (per curiam) (deferring to state court's finding of "historical fact" that the ex parte communications between a judge and a juror did not bias the jury's decision); see also Patton v. Yount, 467 U.S. 1025, 1036-37, 104 S.Ct. 2885, 81 L.Ed.2d 847 (1984) (holding that the question of juror impartiality is not a mixed question of law and fact but instead is "plainly one of historical fact"). A state court's post-trial factual finding regarding a juror's impartiality is entitled to a "presumption of correctness." Rushen, 464 U.S. at 120, 104 S.Ct. 453.

For example, in *Moody v. Johnson*, the state court conducted two evidentiary hearings and determined that the improper conversation between the bailiff and one of the jurors did not impact the jury's deliberations. 139 F.3d 477, 483 (5th Cir.1998). On habeas review, we noted that "[t]he determination of whether there was any improper conduct and its [e]ffect, if any, on juror impartiality are questions of historical fact that 'must be determined, in the first instance', by state courts and deferred to, in the absence of 'convincing evidence' to the contrary, by the federal courts.'" Id. (citing Rushen, 464 U.S. at 120, 104 S.Ct. 453); see, e.g., Schaff v. Snyder, 190 F.3d 513, 534-35 (7th Cir.1999) (deferring to state court's post-trial factual finding that the extraneous statement the jury had heard regarding other similar charges against the defendant did not bias the jury's decision); Crease v. McKune, 189 F.3d 1188, 1193 (10th Cir.1999) (deferring to state court's factual finding that improper communication between the judge and a juror did not prejudice the habeas petitioner). In contrast, if the state court does not make factual findings regarding the effect of an external influence on the jury, then we simply conduct a harmless error analysis using the Brecht standard without having to defer to any state court findings. See, e.g., Pyles, 136 F.3d at 994-95 (analyzing the prejudicial effect of a juror improperly visiting the crime scene without mentioning whether the state court made any factual findings). But see *Dorsey* v. Quarterman, 494 F.3d 527, 531 (5th Cir.2007) (conducting a harmless error analysis without explicitly deferring to the state court's conclusion that the jury could continue deliberating even though two jurors had viewed evidence not in the record).

Oliver has failed to demonstrate that the state court's finding that the Bible did not influence the jury lacks "even fair support in the record." *Rushen*, 464 U.S. at 120, 104 S.Ct. 453 (internal quotation marks omitted). Although the record includes evidence that cuts both ways, given the highly deferential standard of habeas review, we conclude that at least four factors provide "fair

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